
Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
Directorate 

Legal and Democratic Services  Cumbria House, 107-117 Botchergate, 
Carlisle, CA1 1RD  Tel 01228 606060   

Email democratic.services@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

 

  

 

 
1 

15 April 2019  

 
 
To:  The Council Leader and Members of Cabinet 
 
 

Agenda 
 
 

CABINET 
 
 
A meeting of the Cabinet will be held as follows:  
 
 Date: Thursday 25 April 2019 

 Time: 10.00 am 

 Place: Conference Room A, Cumbria House, Carlisle CA1 1RD 

 
 
 
 
 
Dawn Roberts 
Executive Director –Corporate, Customer and Community Services 
 
 
 
 
Enquiries and requests for supporting papers to:  Jackie Currie 
Direct Line: 01228 221030 
Email: jackie.currie@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

This agenda is available on request in alternative formats 
 

 
 

Serving the People of Cumbria 



MEMBERSHIP 
 
 
 

Mr SF Young (Leader) 
Mrs A Burns 
Mrs PA Bell 
Ms D Earl 
Mr KA Little 
 

Mr DE Southward 
Mr P Thornton 
Mrs C Tibble 
Mrs J Willis 
Mrs S Sanderson 
 

 
 

 
ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

 
 
Agenda and Reports 
 
Copies of the agenda and Part I reports are available for members of the public to inspect 
prior to the meeting.  Copies will also be available at the meeting. 
 
The agenda and Part I reports are also available on the County Council’s website –  
www.cumbria.gov.uk  
 
Background Papers 
 
Requests for the background papers to the Part I reports, excluding those papers that 
contain exempt information, can be made to Legal and Democratic Services at the 
address overleaf between the hours of 9.00 am and 4.30 pm, Monday to Friday. 

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/


A G E N D A 
 
 
PART 1: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE OF THE PRESS 

AND PUBLIC 
 

1   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

To receive any apologies for absence.   
 
 
2   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 

Members are invited to disclose any disclosable pecuniary interest they have in any item 
on the agenda which comprises 

 
1 Details of any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for 
 profit or gain.  
 
2 Details of any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from 

the authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any 
expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards your 
election expenses.  (This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade 
union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  

 
3 Details of any contract which is made between you (or a body in which you have 

a beneficial interest) and the authority  
 

(a)  Under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
 executed; and  
 

 (b)  Which has not been fully discharged.  
 
4 Details of any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the authority.   
 
5 Details of any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of 

the authority for a month or longer.   
 
6 Details of any tenancy where (to your knowledge)  
 
 (a) The landlord is the authority; and 
 
 (b) The tenant is a body in which you have a beneficial interest. 
 
7 Details of any beneficial interest in securities of a body where 
 

(a) That body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
 area of the authority; and 
 
 



(b) Either –  
 

(i) The total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
 hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or 
 

(ii) If that share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total 
issued share capital of that class. 

 
In addition, you must also disclose other non-pecuniary interests set out in the Code of 
Conduct where these have not already been registered. 
 
Note 
 
A “disclosable pecuniary interest” is an interest of a councillor or their partner 
(which means spouse or civil partner, a person with whom they are living as 
husband or wife, or a person with whom they are living as if they are civil 
partners).     
 
3   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
To consider whether the press and public should be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of any item on the agenda.   
 
 
4   MINUTES 

 
To receive the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 21 March 2019 (copy enclosed) 
 
 (Pages 7 - 18)  
 
5   STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND CABINET 

MEMBERS 
 

To receive statements by the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Members.   
 
 
6   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 

 
There were no questions, petitions or statements at the time of despatch 
   
 
REFERRAL FROM LOCAL COMMITTEES   
 
None for this meeting 
 
 
REFERRAL FROM SCRUTINY   
 
None for this meeting 
 



DIRECTORATE REPORTS - ENVIRONMENT AND INFRASTRUCTURE   
 
7   ARNSIDE & SILVERDALE AND NORTH PENNINES AREAS OF 

OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY - MANAGEMENT PLANS 
 

To consider a report from the Acting Executive Director – Economy and Infrastructure 
(copy enclosed) 
 
 (Pages 19 - 28)  
 
 
PART 2: ITEMS LIKELY TO BE CONSIDERED IN THE ABSENCE OF THE PRESS 
AND PUBLIC 
 
None for this meeting   
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



  

CUMBRIA COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a Meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday, 21 March 
2019 at 10.00 am at County Offices, Kendal 

  
 

PRESENT: 

 
Mr SF Young (Leader) 

Mrs PA Bell 
Ms D Earl 

Mr DE Southward 
Mr P Thornton 

Mrs C Tibble 
Mrs J Willis 

 
Officers in attendance: 

 
Chief Executive, Cumbria County Council, Executive Director - Corporate, 

Customer and Community Services, Director of Finance (Section 151 
Officer), Chief Fire Officer, Director of Public Health, Acting Executive 

Director - Economy and Infrastructure, Interim Assistant Director - 

Integration and Partnership, Chief Legal Officer (Monitoring Officer), 
Professional Lead - Democratic Services, Leadership Support Officer - 

Labour Group and Leadership Support Officer - Liberal Democrat Group 
 

 
 PART 1 ITEMS CONSIDERED IN THE PRESENCE 

OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 

 

 

 
94 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Mrs A Burns, Mr K Little, and 

Mrs S Sanderson. 
 

 

95 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 
 

There were no disclosures of interest on this occasion. 
 

 
96 MINUTES 

 
RESOLVED, the minutes of the meeting held on 7 February 2019 be 

agreed as a true and accurate record and signed by the 
Chair. 

 

7

Agenda Item 4



  

97 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 

RESOLVED, that the press and public be not excluded for any item of 
business on this occasion. 

 
 

98 STATEMENTS BY THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND 

CABINET MEMBERS 
 

The Leader made a statement about the death on Friday of former 
Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance Bob Mather.  Bob worked 

for the county council for many years, making a significant contribution 
to the life of the county, and retired in 2008. Following retirement Bob 

continued to play an important role in Cumbria, most recently as 
Chairman of the Cumbria Community Foundation.  The funeral would be 

held on Thursday 28 March at Carlisle Cathedral at 2pm and the Leader 
and Cabinet Members expressed condolences to Bob’s family. 

 
The Leader then made a further statement about the successful 

Borderlands Inclusive Growth Deal bid.  A £345m package of funding for 
the scheme was announced last week by Government.  Borderlands 

Growth brought together the five cross-border local authorities of Carlisle 

City Council, Cumbria County Council, Dumfries & Galloway Council, 
Northumberland County Council and Scottish Borders Council to promote 

economic growth and competitiveness of the area that straddles the 
Scotland-England border.  

 
The Borderlands Growth partners were working together to deliver 

transformative change across the region to maximise the benefits of 
growth. This included two key economic challenges - the need for 

population growth and improved productivity. 
 

The Leader and Cabinet Members asked that their thanks be recorded to 
all the officers involved in the submission of the bid, with specific thanks 

to the Senior Manager - Economic Development. 
 

 

99 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

There were no petitions, questions or statements made at this meeting. 
 

 
100 2018/19 REVENUE AND CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 

REPORT TO 31 DECEMBER 2018 
 

A report was considered from the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) which 
set out the Council’s financial position at 31 December 2018, Quarter 3 

(Q3); covering the Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and Treasury 

8



  

Management.  Members noted that this report would also link to the Q3 
Council Plan Delivery Plan Performance report (referred to at minute 

101). 
 

On presenting the report the Deputy Leader asked Cabinet to note that 
the budget position continued to be monitored as part of the integrated 

approach to managing resources to deliver the Council Plan, provide for 

the statutory responsibilities and secure the financial sustainability of the 
Council going forward.  It was highlighted that although the forecast was 

for a balanced budget position at the year end, which was welcome, 
every effort was being made to be ‘on budget’ at the year end, given the 

service demand pressures, particularly in People Services.  The 
Committee noted this remained challenging and Cabinet Members were 

aware of budget and service demand pressures being reported by 
councils elsewhere.  

 
The County Council had received the benefit of the renegotiation of the 

Carlisle Northern Development Route PFI contract.  It had been assumed 
that a £3million pound benefit would be achieved but once finalised, this 

had increased to £10.6million.  The additional £7.5million pounds had 
helped in balancing the £4.6million pressures which had been reported as 

per the Quarter 3 forecast, largely in the People Directorate. 

 
The principal service pressures for the People Directorate were in 

Children Looked After and SEND Transport. These were being met by in-
year Promoting Independence Programme savings in Adults, the 

refinancing of CNDR , Treasury Management, insurance and holding 
vacancies. This produced the balanced budget position as well as 

securing the General Fund Balance at about £12million pounds. 
 

In relation to the Capital budget, the County Council was forecasting 

£140million pound spend on the Capital Programme – with a variance of 
around £4.5million which was a major achievement.  

 
The Deputy Leader was delighted that the Council had been able to 

arrange the financing of the Carlisle Southern Link Road, and this along 
with the announcement of the Borderlands deal showed that Cumbria 

could still be outward looking and ambitious, even in these challenging 

times. 
 

The Statutory Deadline for the closure of draft accounts changed last 
year and was now required by 31 May and the outturn would be reported 

to the June meeting of Council  
The Deputy Leader was asking Cabinet to agree to an in principle 

agreement of transfers to Earmarked Reserves now, as, although Cabinet 
could make transfers to and from Earmarked Reserves, there was no 

provision to make transfers to and from the General Fund Balance.  
Therefore if funds were not earmarked for commitments, the resulting 

9



  

underspend would be accounted  for, and increase the General Fund 
Balance.   

 
Cabinet noted that once the General Fund Balance target of £15million 

was achieved any additional funds would be transferred to the Innovation 
Fund reserve providing necessary revenue funding to support the 

Council’s commitment to new ways of working to be a financially 

sustainable Council in the future. 
 

In concluding, the Deputy Leader formally moved the recommendations 
in paragraphs 2.1 a) to q) contained within the report. 

 
RESOLVED, that 

 
 (1) the Revenue budget at the provisional outturn for 

monitoring purposes of £392.595m as a result of the 
transfers from the Inflation and Contingency budget 

and agreed transfers from reserves (set out in 
Appendix 1 of the report) be noted; 

 
 (2) the forecast Revenue budget year end position of a 

net pressure of £0.024m be noted; 

 
 (3) transfers to Earmarked Reserves of committed but 

unutilised budget at 31 March 2019 as outlined in the 
table below be agreed in principle, these currently 

total £1.502m.  
 

Directorate   Description £m 

Economy &  Working together project 0.120 

Infrastructure     Morecambe Bay Partnership funding 0.032 

 

    
Parking - surplus income to be used by 
Highways 0.033 

      Port of Workington underspend 0.141 

   
Insurance settlement for infrastructure 
costs 0.196 

Corporate, 
Customer & 
Community  Library Services – Marketing Activity 0.050 

Other Items   Innovation Fund 0.930 

Total       1.502 

 

 (4) Cabinet approve the transfer of both the net revenue 
balance of both accelerated spend (overspendings) 

and underspendings on each Local Committee budget 
(highways and non-highways) as at 31 March 2019 to 

an Earmarked Reserve for use in 2019/20; 
 

10



  

 (5) it be agreed in principle, that after the General Fund 
balance has been increased to the £15m agreed by 

Council, any remaining net outturn revenue position, 
is transferred to the Innovation Fund Reserve to 

support transformation and innovation; 
 

 (6) the drawdown from contingency of £0.250m to fund 

the backdated sleep in payments for staff within 
Children’s Homes be agreed; 

 
 (7) the revenue contribution to capital expenditure as 

outlined below totalling £1.168m be agreed:- 
 

Directorate   Description       £m 

Economy & 
Infrastructure 

Trading Standards and purchase of 
vehicles   0.035 

   Children’s Centres ongoing integration 
programme with NHS 0.120 

 Schools Corporate Maintenance 

Fund     1.013 

Total              1.168 

 
 (8) it be noted the progress in delivering the new savings 

for 2018/19 of £38.829m; a total of £35.750m 
(92.1%) of these 2018/19 savings are forecast to be 

delivered by 31 March 2019.  This is however less 

than Q2 and largely due to the cross cutting £0.880m 
savings in 2018/19 forecast as not being met; 

 
 (9) it be noted the forecast General Reserve balance at 

31 March 2019 of (£13.222m) before additional 
mitigations (detailed in para 7.2 of the report).  This 

is above the minimum level of General Reserve 
Balances target set by Council in February 2018 of 

£10m; 
 

 (10) the addition of £0.035m of additional 
contributions/adjustments to Capital schemes, (as 

detailed in paragraph 8.4 of the report), to be 
included within the capital programme funded from 

specific grants and contributions be approved; 

 
 (11) the Capital budget adjustments of (£0.050m) (as 

detailed in paragraph 8.4 of the report) be approved; 
 

 (12) the Capital accelerated spend of £0.460m (as 
detailed in paragraph 8.8 of the report) be approved; 

 

11



  

 (13) Capital Slippage of (£4.912m) (as detailed in 
paragraph 8.7 of the report) be approved; 

 
 (14) the forecast outturn for the Capital Programme 

2018/19 of £139.099m against a current budget of 
£143.625m (excluding Accountable Bodies) resulting 

in a variance of 4.526m which is made up of 

(£4.912m) slippage, £0.460m accelerated spend and 
(£0.074m) underspend (as set out in Table 6 of the 

report) be noted; 
 

 (15) it be RECOMMENDED to Council, the addition of 
£106.9m to the Councils Capital Programme, in 

relation to the existing capital project ‘Carlisle 
Southern Link Road’ (as detailed paras 8.14 and 8.15 

of the report); 
 

 (16) it be noted that Treasury Management activities 
during Q3 have operated within the treasury limits 

set out in the Council’s Treasury Policy Statement 
and Treasury Strategy Statement and the Prudential 

Indicators set by Council in February 2018; 

 
 (17) following the delegation to Cabinet by Council at its 

meeting on 14 February 2019, approve the Works 
Permit scheme and amend the 2019/20 fees and 

charges schedule within the Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2019-22 (as set out in Section 10 of the report). 

 
 

101 CORPORATE PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT - 
QUARTER 3 - 2018-19 

 
Cabinet considered a report by the Director of Finance (s151 Officer) 

which provided a progress update on corporate performance, 
incorporating progress on the Council Plan Delivery Plan 2018/19 for the 

three month period from 1 October 2018 to 31 December 2018. 

 
The Leader presented the report which focused on the Council Plan 

Delivery Plan for 2018/19 that was agreed by Cabinet in June 2018.  It 
was noted that the Council Plan Delivery Plan for 2018/19 set out a series 

of actions and indicators relating to how the Council would deliver the 
three outcomes and implement the new ways of working as identified in 

the Council Plan 2018-22, which was agreed by Council in February 2018.  
 

Cabinet note that the overall position by the end of Quarter 3 2018/19 
was that 56 of the 81 (69%) Council Plan Delivery Plan actions had 

delivered, met or were track to meet the planned milestone, 23 (28%) 

12



  

were at risk of missing the planned milestone with a recovery plan in 
place. These are therefore rated green or amber. For the same period, 2 

actions (2%) had missed a key milestone, did not fully deliver as 
intended and has therefore been rated red. 

 
Members were informed that where performance was below target or 

baseline, action would be taken to improve performance to bring 

performance back on track.  It was explained that in those instances, 
remedial action was highlighted in the detailed commentary (attached 

within Appendix 1 of the report). 
 

The Leader made reference to achievements and successes set out in 
paragraphs 18-30 in the report and the milestones that had been missed 

in paragraphs 32-41. 
  

RESOLVED, that the overall performance relating to delivery of the 
three Council Plan outcomes and implementation of new 

ways of working, focusing on progress against the actions 
and metrics identified in the Council Plan Delivery Plan 

2018/19 for the 3rd quarter ending 31 December 2018 be 
noted. 

 

 
102 FIRE SERVICE INTEGRATED RISK MANAGEMENT PLAN 2019-

2023 
 

Cabinet considered a report by the Chief Fire Officer which detailed the 
final version of the IRMP 2019–2023 and asked members to endorse the 

final version for recommendation to Full Council.   
 

The Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and Rescue 
presented the Integrated Risk Management Plan, which was a statutory 

document with the main purpose of making the Fire Service more 
responsive to locally identified risk. It provided a risk-managed approach 

to community safety, fire protection and emergency response that will 
contribute to a safer Cumbria. 
 

It was noted that the IRMP included the key deliverables for the service 

to work towards over the next four years, and included a four year 
delivery plan, which focused on :- 

 
 The importance of the fire prevention agenda and partnership 

working to protect the most vulnerable in our society 
 

 Using our available resources in the most efficient and effective 

ways to manage risk and ensure public safety 
 

13



  

The Cabinet Member reported that one of the innovative ideas within the 
plan was to pilot the use of smaller Rapid Response Vehicles in a small 

number of lower risk and demand areas.  These vehicles were smaller 
than a normal fire engine and would allow the Fire Service to provide a 

better response to the people of Cumbria.  
 

The new Plan had been through a comprehensive consultation process 

that had allowed the people of Cumbria a say in how our Fire and Rescue 
Service continued to target its resources in the most efficient manner.  

All the consultation responses that related to the current IRMP had been 
considered, and responses to the main points raised were included in the 

Cabinet Paper. 
 

The Cabinet Member asked that it be noted that Copeland Local 
Committee passed a motion at the meeting held on 15 January  2019 to 

not support the IRMP proposal to introduce a Rapid Response Vehicle at 
Frizington. 

 
In recommending the IRMP to Full Council for approval, Cabinet would 

give the staff who worked for Service, the public and other agencies 
certainty about the strategic direction of travel over the next four years.  

 

Cabinet asked the Chief Fire Officer to investigate whether it would be 
possible to bring the Rapid Response Vehicle (RRV) to full Council on 11 

April 2019, to allow all members the opportunity to see the vehicle.  The 
Chief Fire Officer agreed to investigate. 

 
RESOLVED, that the report be noted and approved and that the final 

version of the IRMP be RECOMMENDED for adoption by 
full Council. 

 
 

103 TUC GREAT JOBS AGENDA 
 

Cabinet received a report from the Executive Director – Corporate, 
Customer and Community Services which provided members with the 

opportunity to consider a national campaign being led by the Trades 

Union Congress (TUC) regarding the Great Jobs Agenda.  
 

The Cabinet Member for Customers, Transformation and Fire and Rescue 
presented the report and asked cabinet to note that the Great Jobs 

Agenda promoted that every job should be a great job with all workers 
having :- 

 
 A voice at work – the chance to be represented by Trade 

Unions and be consulted on the key things that matter at 
work; 

14



  

 Fair and decent pay - pay all workers at least the ‘real living 
wage’; 

 Regular hours - give staff who want them contracts with 
guaranteed hours;  

 Fair treatment and respect - zero tolerance approach to all 
forms of discrimination; 

 Learning and development opportunities - quality 
apprenticeships and learning and progression opportunities 

for all; 
 Safe and healthy workplace – including active joint health and 

safety committees. 
 
The TUC campaign was not just about what the County Council could do as an 
employer, but also what it could do to promote standards to other employers locally. 
 

RESOLVED,   
 

 (1) that the six standards outlined in the TUC Great Jobs 
Agenda be considered; 

 

 (2) to agree to support the principles of the Great Jobs 
Agenda national campaign; 

 
 (3) to promote the Great Jobs Agenda with key 

stakeholders across Cumbria.  
 

 
104 SCHOOLS MAINTENANCE - LIABILITIES AND FUNDING 

 
A report was considered from the Acting Executive Director – Economy 

and Infrastructure which provided information in respect of the financial 
challenges being faced by the County Councils programme for schools 

maintenance. 
 

Members were provided with a projection of the funding required to 

maintain the County Councils school estate to a “safe, wind and 
watertight” standard as set out in the County Councils Property Asset 

Management Strategy together with an overview of the schools 
maintenance activity undertaken in recent years. 

 
The Cabinet Member for Economic Development and Property said this 

paper outlined the challenges being faced now and to be faced in the 
future by Cumbria County Council in seeking to maintain our schools to a 

safe, wind and watertight standard. With declining central government 
funding over recent years and with an ageing school estate, it was 

becoming increasingly challenging to maintain the schools to the 
standards that was expected and that the children of Cumbria deserved. 

 

15



  

Over the last 5 years the funding that the county council received from 
government to maintain schools had fallen by nearly £2m from £6.7m to 

just £4.7m, and in the same period it had been necessary for the council 
to invest a staggering £16.4m, largely financed through prudential 

borrowing, in order to keep schools safe, wind and watertight. 
 

Over the next few years this challenge was set to increase as further 

reductions in central government funding for school maintenance were 
anticipated.   

 
The Cabinet Member felt that unless there were changes in the funding 

available for the maintenance of schools there existed a very real risk 
that schools may have to close due to the lack of basic maintenance 

necessary to keep Cumbrian children safe. 
 

For this reason the Cabinet Member proposed a further recommendation, 
namely, that cabinet agrees to send this paper to the six Cumbrian MPs 

and to seek an urgent opportunity to discuss this pressing issue with 
them.  This was AGREED. 

 
RESOLVED, that 

 
(1) the report be noted; 

(2) Cabinet agrees to send this paper to the six Cumbrian MPs 
and to seek an urgent opportunity to discuss this pressing issue 

with them. 
 

 

105 CUMBRIA JOINT PUBLIC HEALTH STRATEGY 
 

Cabinet Members considered a report from Director of Public Health 
which presented a draft Joint Public Health Strategy for Cumbria, for 

approval prior to its submission to Council in April. 
 

In presenting the report the Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Community Services asked cabinet to note that the strategy sets out how 

the Council would work on the Health and Wellbeing Strategy theme of 
‘Tackling the Wider Determinants of Health’.  The focus would be on the 

wider environmental, social and economic factors rather than on lifestyles 
and behaviours. 

 
As a joint strategy this had been developed with, and approved by, the 

District Councils and the Lake District National Park, and this showed a 

strong commitment to joint working on health and wellbeing, which was 
key to working towards the ambitious aims. 

 
The Cabinet Member reported that the next step would be to develop 

action plans at a county level, owned by the Public Health Alliance and at 

16



  

district level, owned by the local Health and Wellbeing For a, and all 
partners were already working on this. 

 
Cabinet noted that as joint strategy the work to achieve the aims would 

involve many stakeholders, all with a role to play. 
 

RESOLVED, that it be RECOMMENDED the Joint Public Health Strategy 

be adopted by full Council. 
 

 
106 BETTER CARE FUND/IMPROVED BETTER CARE FUND 

2019/20 
 

Members considered a report by the Executive Director – People which 
sought delegations to be put in place to enable the Better Care Fund to 

be submitted if Cabinet cycles did not align with the submission date.  
The report also asked Cabinet to approve the Improved Better Care Fund 

Proposals.  
 

RESOLVED, that 
 

  (1) it be agreed to delegate to the Executive Director – 

People, in consultation with the Leader, the Deputy 
Leader and the Cabinet Member for Health and Care 

Services, authority to approve the Better Care Fund 
(BCF) submission on behalf of Cumbria County 

Council; 
 

  (2) the proposals for the Improved Better Care Fund 
(iBCF) (as set out in appendix 2 of the report) be 

agreed. 
 

 
107 CONSULTATION ON THE PROPOSED EXPANSION OF 

THURSBY PRIMARY SCHOOL 
 

Members considered a report by the Executive Director – People which 

informed the Cabinet of the outcome of the representation period 
triggered by the publication of notices for the potential expansion of 

Thursby Primary School.  It was noted that the representation period 
opened on 11 January 2019 and closed on 8 February 2019.   

 
On presenting the report the Leader referred to responses received to the 

public consultation, which took place between 8 October and 16 
November 2018. There were 17 responses (mostly returned by the 

school) during the consultation period of which 70% were in favour of the 
proposal.   Many responses raised issues over the potential increased 

traffic and parking problems around school start and finish times.  This 

17



  

point was identified in the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) and 
traffic surveys and a review of Thursby School Travel Plan was being 

undertaken as part of the planning application. 
 

RESOLVED, to implement proposals for the expansion of Thursby 
Primary School. 

 

 
 

The meeting ended at 11.20 am 

18



Committee:  Cabinet 

Date of meeting: 25 April 2019 

 
Title of Report: Arnside & Silverdale and North Pennines Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty – Management Plans 

Report by: Angela Jones, Acting Executive Director – Infrastructure 

and Economy  

Cabinet Member:  Celia Tibble, Cabinet Member for Environment  

 

 
What is the Report About? (Executive Summary) 
 
1. The Council has a statutory duty under Section 89 of the Countryside and 

Rights of Way Act 2000 to prepare and review Management Plans for each of 
the three Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) that are located in 
Cumbria. 

 
2. This work is delivered on the council’s behalf by the relevant AONB staff units. 

The Management Plans for both the Arnside & Silverdale and North Pennines 
AONB have recently been reviewed and finalised to guide the management of 
these protected landscapes for the period 2019 – 2024.   The council needs to 
formally adopt these Management Plans to continue to meet its statutory duties. 

 
Recommendations of the Executive Director 
 
3. That Cabinet agree and adopt the North Pennines AONB Management Plan. 

 
4. That Cabinet agree and adopt the Arnside and Silverdale AONB Management 

Plan subject to the views of the Arnside and AONB Executive. Should further 
changes be made to the final version of the Management Plan, that Cabinet 
delegate authority to the Acting Executive Director Economy and Infrastructure, 
in consultation with the Portfolio Holder to agree those changes. In the event 
that any proposed changes were to materially alter the purpose or objectives of 
the Management Plan, the matter would be referred back to Cabinet.  

 
Background to the Proposals 

 
5. Section 89 of the Countryside and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000 places a 

duty on local authorities to act jointly to produce and review, on a five yearly 
basis, management plans for the AONB within their administrative boundaries.  
In Cumbria this duty is performed by the three AONB management 
organisations – Arnside & Silverdale AONB Executive Committee; North 
Pennines AONB Partnership, and Solway Coast AONB Joint Advisory 
Committee.   The council is represented by a nominated Member on each of 
these bodies.   
 

 

19

Agenda Item 7



6. The County Council is jointly responsible for three AONBs which lie wholly or 
partly within its administrative boundaries – Arnside & Silverdale; North 
Pennines and Solway Coast. Each AONB, consists of a small team of officers 
employed by the host local authority (Lancaster City Council for Arnside & 
Silverdale; Durham County Council for North Pennines). They carry out the 
work for the management organisations with core funding from the relevant 
local authorities and DEFRA.   
 

7. Council officers have been involved in the review and preparation of the draft 
Management Plans through attendance of the Steering Groups.  Members have 
contributed through attendance of Executive Committee or Partnership 
meetings. 

 
8. Both Management Plans are similar in their approach to setting objectives for 

fulfilling the requirement to conserve and enhance the natural beauty of the 
AONB.   The Management Plans are meant to be taken as a guide for all 
partners and stakeholders to refer to when planning their own work within the 
AONB.  
 

 Arnside & Silverdale AONB Management Plan  
 

9. The Draft Management Plan sets out a long term Vision for the AONB which 
leads to three key outcomes:  outstanding landscape rich in natural and cultural 
heritage; vibrant and sustainable communities; a strong connection between 
people and the landscape.  To achieve this a range of objectives, outcomes and 
requirements for land management and project delivery are detailed in the Plan.  
These are best expressed in the Summary Table that accompanies the 
Management Plan. The draft plan can be found at 
https://www.arnsidesilverdaleaonb.org.uk/what-we-do/the-management-plan/ 

 
10. Broadly the Management Plan focuses on:   
 

a) The need to protect the landscape and seascape and to ensure it is 
resilient to change;   

b) Ensuring the natural and cultural/historic heritage of the AONB is in good 
condition, well understood and valued; ensuring that rural livelihoods (in 
particular farming and tourism) are supported to be viable, delivering 
environmental benefits without harming the natural beauty and special 
qualities of the AONB;   

c) Enabling delivery of affordable housing and rural services in appropriate 
locations to meet local need without harming the AONB;   ensuring that 
local communities can engage with the work of the AONB;  

d) Promoting enjoyment and understanding of the AONB; supporting a high 
quality and well managed access network that is accessible to a diverse 
range of people.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

20

https://www.arnsidesilverdaleaonb.org.uk/what-we-do/the-management-plan/


11. Examples of some of the actions/projects referred to in the Arnside & Silverdale 
AONB Management Plan include: increased take-up of agri-environment 
schemes; coordinated approach to water catchment in sensitive areas; improve 
station facilities and information so that Arnside & Silverdale stations act as 
arrival hubs for visitors; promote walking, running, cycling, horseriding and 
wildlife watching and other forms of quiet recreation in the AONB; work towards 
securing a new footpath/cycleway link to Grange-over-Sands across Arnside 
viaduct; develop and promote a Coastal Code. 
 

12. The Draft Management Plan was consulted on from 22 October – 3 December 
2018.  A total of 29 responses were received. A summary of the consultation 
responses can be found at Appendix 1. 
 

13. The Draft Management Plan has been well received by the steering group with 
no major issues or concerns raised.  The majority of comments relate to minor 
clarifications required to the text.   Key points made in response to the 
consultation include: giving more emphasis to the role of farming and land 
management in creating the beauty of the landscape; being more specific about 
improving the viability of farming; identifying key species for nature 
conservation; more emphasis on the need for collaboration, co-operation and 
investment to sustain this exceptional landscape; providing more clarity in the 
text on how stated objectives are derived from the issues and challenges 
identified.  
 

14. At the Arnside & Silverdale AONB Executive Committee on 20th March partners 
were informed that some final changes were still being made to the document 
text and the final version would be circulated to Executive Committee members 
after the meeting for their comments.  At this meeting, the Executive Committee 
delegated authority to the Management Plan Review Group – which includes 
officers from all the partner local authorities - to endorse the final version ready 
for adoption.  

 

North Pennines AONB Management Plan  
 

15. The Draft Management Plan starts with a Vision looking ahead to 2030.  To 
achieve this Vision a range of objectives, outcomes and requirements for 
management of the AONB is set out.  These are summarised most effectively in 
the diagram on page 58 of the Plan. Full details of the Draft Management Plan 
can be found at http://www.northpennines.org.uk/management-plan-review-
2019-to-2024/ 
 

16. Broadly the Management Plan has the following desired outcomes: there is a 
more resilient landscape, richer in wildlife; natural and cultural heritage assets 
are maintained in good condition; natural and cultural assets are valued for their 
own sake and for all they provide for us; communities have a strong sense of 
place and people share their heritage with others; well managed heritage 
supports sustainable tourism and safeguards local services. 

 
 
 
 
 

21

http://www.northpennines.org.uk/management-plan-review-2019-to-2024/
http://www.northpennines.org.uk/management-plan-review-2019-to-2024/


17. Examples of some of the actions/projects referred to in the North Pennines 
AONB Management Plan include: ensure conservation of the special truly dark 
night skies in the North Pennines; deliver a results-based outcome-focussed 
approach to agri-environment payments; continue restoration of peatlands and 
end rotational burning of blanket bog; build community capacity to take a lead 
on conserving and celebrating natural and cultural heritage; promote activities 
which encourage overnight stays and improve profile of the North Pennines as 
a destination, including the UNESCO Global Geopark brand; support 
development of new walking and cycling products linked to public transport 
hubs. 
 

18. The Draft Management Plan was consulted on from 3 December 2018 to 
31January 2019.  Just under 150 responses were received, generating 
approximately 800 individual comments.  A summary of the consultation 
responses can be found in Appendix 2. 

 
19. Overall, the Draft Management Plan was very well received. There was strong 

support for the stated Vision, actions and Top 10 Conservation Priorities.  The 
Vision has received a number of amendments to reflect valuable additions 
during consultation; the conservation priorities have been expanded in scope.  
There was particularly strong support cited for Conserving and Celebrating Dark 
Night Skies.  The short and medium term outcomes set out in the Plan were all 
well received with no amendments made.    
 

20. Examples of the type of amendments made to the Draft Plan include: more 
reference to historic environment in the Vision section; including actions that 
address climate change and improvements to water quality; including wetlands 
in the section heading on rivers; clarifying that encouraging farmers to cut hay 
instead of haylage/silage relates to species-rich meadows, not all meadows; 
making reference to conservation of other soils and not just peatlands. Natural 
England’s latest position statement on burning of blanket bog is also 
incorporated into the final version. 
 

21. The final version, incorporating all the proposed revisions, was endorsed 
unanimously by the North Pennines AONB Partnership on 21st February 2019 
and is now ready for adoption by the area’s five local authorities in accordance 
with the provisions under S89 of the CRoW Act 2000. 

 
Options Considered and Risks Identified 
 

Option (a) 
 

22. Cabinet Members agree and adopt both the Arnside & Silverdale and North 
Pennines AONB Management Plans to meet its statutory duty under Section 89 
of the CRoW Act 2000. 
 
Option (b) 
 

23. Cabinet Members may choose not to adopt either Management Plan but it 
would fail to meet its statutory duty. 

 
 

22



Option (c) 
 

24. Cabinet Members may request changes to be made to either Management Plan 
which will be taken back to the relevant AONB Partnership for their 
consideration 

 
25. Risks – A decision not to adopt the Management Plans would mean the council 

would fail its statutory duty to prepare and review Management Plans for the 
AONBs within its administrative boundaries. 

 
Reasons for the recommendation/Key benefits  

 
26. The council has a statutory duty to prepare and review Management Plans for 

the AONBs within its administrative boundaries.  Adopting the Management 
Plans fulfils this duty and will provide a clear and up-to-date management 
context for guiding decisions made by local authorities, landowners and other 
stakeholders on actions they carry out within the AONB boundaries. 

 
27. Both the Management Plans provide clear objectives which address relevant 

issues for their area.  In particular, the need to deliver agri-environment 
schemes to support farmers; improve the quality of the water environment, and 
to promote walking and cycling routes that are well connected to public 
transport.   

 
28. The Management Plans will be instrumental in conserving and enhancing the 

nationally protected landscapes outside the Lake District and Yorkshire Dales 
National Parks.   

 
Financial – What Resources will be needed and how will it be Funded? 
 
29. The Council makes an annual contribution to the Arnside & Silverdale AONB of 

£8,805 and to the North Pennines AONB of £14,329 which is funded by the 
Economy and Environment budget agreed by Council in February 2019.  The 
funding is provided to support the development of the AONB Management Plan. 
If Cabinet agree the recommendation to adopt the Management Plans these 
contributions will continue.   

 
30. At Cabinet on 22 March 2018 Members agreed to continue this level of funding 

to the AONBs for the next three years (2019 – 2021) , acknowledging that 
working in partnership is the most cost effective way for the County Council to 
fulfil its statutory duty regarding preparation and review of the AONB 
Management Plans. 

 
Legal Aspects – What needs to be considered? 
 
31. The council has a statutory duty under Section 89 (5) of the CRoW Act 2000 to 

review the AONB Management Plan before the end of the period of 5 years 
beginning with the date on which the initial Management Plan was first 
published and then, after the first Review, at intervals of not more than 5 years. 

 
 
 

23



32. Section 89 (10) of the CRoW Act 2000 provides that when reviewing the 
Management Plan the council shall: 
 

 Determine on that review whether it would be expedient to amend the plan 
and what (if any) amendments would be appropriate 
 

 Make any amendments that they consider appropriate, and 
 

 Publish a report on the review specifying any amendments made. 
 

33. As this policy will not form part of the Council’s Policy Framework as defined in 
3.1 of Part 2A of the Constitution the decisions in this report are for Cabinet 
under 2.1(j) of Part 2B. 

 
Council Plan Priority – How do the Proposals Contribute to the Delivery of the 
Council’s Stated Outcomes? (Outcomes - People in Cumbria are Healthy and 
Safe, Places in Cumbria are well connected and thriving, the Economy in 
Cumbria is growing and benefits everyone) 
 
34. The AONB Management Plans contribute to all 3 of the outcomes the Council 

wants to achieve for Cumbria as stated in the Council Plan 2018 – 2022: 
 

 people in Cumbria are healthy and safe - access to the countryside is 
promoted encouraging outdoor recreation such as walking, cycling, 
horseriding 
 

 places in Cumbria are well-connected and thriving – actions/projects 
include maintaining and connecting public rights of way, including linking 
to public transport hubs 

 

 the economy in Cumbria is growing and benefits everyone – the rural 
economy is supported, in particular through tourism and farming 

 
What is the Impact of the Decision on Health Inequalities and Equality and 
Diversity Issues? 
 
35. There are no equality issues arising from this report.  The AONB Management 

Plans include actions which seek to address equality issues, increasing access 
opportunities for disabled people and those with additional needs.  The support 
of activities for outdoor recreation and education/community participation all of 
which promote good health. 

 
Appendices and Background Documents 
 
Appendix 1 – Summary of consultation responses for the DRAFT Arnside & Silverdale 
AONB Management Plan 2019 – 2024: 
 
Appendix 2 - Summary of the consultation responses for DRAFT North Pennines 
AONB Management Plan 2019 – 2024: 
 

24



 
Key Facts 
 
Electoral Division(s): 
 
Arnside & Silverdale AONB – Kent Estuary; Lyth Valley 

North Pennines AONB – Alston and East Fellside; Corby and Hayton; Appleby;  

Kirkby Stephen  

 
 

Executive 
Decision  

Key 
Decision 
Included 
in 
Forward 
Plan 

Exempt 
from call-
in 

Exemption 
agreed by 
scrutiny 
chair 

Considered 
by 
scrutiny, if 
so detail 
below 

Environmental 
or 
sustainability 
assessment 
undertaken? 

Equality 
impact 
assessment  
undertaken? 

No Yes No N/A No No No 
 
 

Approved by the relevant Cabinet Member/s on 10. 04. 2019 
 
Previous relevant Council or Executive decisions 
 
The previous Arnside & Silverdale AONB and North Pennines AONB Management 
Plans were agreed and adopted by Cabinet on 27th February 2014. 
 
A decision on the Core Funding for all three AONBs in Cumbria was taken to Cabinet 
on 22nd March 2018. 
 
Consideration by Overview & Scrutiny 
 
Not considered by Overview & Scrutiny 
 
Background Papers 
None 
 
Report Author 
 
Rachel Whaley, Planning Officer – Development Control & Countryside Management  
07917076815    rachel.whaley@cumbria.gov.uk 
 

25

mailto:rachel.whaley@cumbria.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

APPENDIX 1 

Summary of consultation responses to Arnside & Silverdale AONB 

Management Plan 

The majority of comments made relate to minor clarifications required to the text.  

The key issues raised and amendments made to the plan are summarised in the 

table below. 

Issues raised Amendments made 

Give more emphasis to the role of 
farming and land management in 
creating the beauty of the landscape 

First sentence in Introduction section  
amended to:   
‘The natural beauty of an AONB 
landscape is partly due to nature and is 
partly the product of many centuries of 
human modification and management 

Be more specific about improving the 
viability of farming 

Securing long term viability of rural, 
farming and forestry businesses added to 
delivery section. 

Identify key species for nature 
conservation 

A list of key species will not be provided 
in the management plan because of the 
wide range of taxon groups which are 
significant within the AONB. Action for 
key species will also be dependent on 
analysis of evidence, monitoring and 
opportunity on a case by case basis. 
Targeted action for Red Squirrel will 
continue via the Westmorland Red 
Squirrels steering group and according to 
agreed national strategy.    

Provide more clarity in the text on how 
stated objectives are derived from the 
issues and challenges identified 

Plan has been restructured to make this 
clearer. 

More details could be given on how 
actions will be delivered and which lead 
partners would be involved 

The position of the AONB is that, in the 
current period of political uncertainty and 
many upcoming significant policy 
changes, and the fact that a major 
national review of designated landscapes 
is currently underway, they are not in a 
position to be able to be specific about 
lead partners, costs and timetables. The 
review group agreed to take a more 
general approach and set out a 
framework for action rather than a costed 
delivery plan that will become out of date 
very quickly.  More specific detail on this 
would be given in the annual AONB team 
business plans   This is consistent with 
the approach being taken by other 
AONBs for the same reason. 

27



2 
 

APPENDIX 2 

Summary of consultation responses to North Pennines AONB Management 

Plan 

The majority of comments made relate to points of clarification.  The key issues 

raised and amendments made to the plan are summarised in the table below. 

Issues raised Amendments made 

There should be more reference to 
historic environment in the Vision section 

Reference to historic environment 
included.  New action added: “ Promoting 
sensitive new uses for historic buildings 
and structures” 
 

There should be more emphasis on 
tackling climate change and improving 
water quality 

Reference to climate change and 
improvements to water quality have been 
added to the Vision and actions included 
to address these issues (e.g. peatland 
restoration) 

Concern that promoting traditional hay 
cutting rather than haylage/silage is 
overly restrictive for farmers 

Amended text to clarify that this relates to 
species-rich meadows and not all 
meadows 

The conservation value of all soil types 
should be recognised 

Section now includes reference to 
conservation of other soils and not just 
peatlands 

Wetlands are also an important habitat; 
there should be more focus on this in the 
plan 

The plan does include text on wetlands 
but section heading now amended to 
read ‘Rivers and Wetlands’ 

Be more proactive in identifying and 
developing skills and knowledge 
requirements for the younger generation 
to live and work in the AONB 

The Partnership is not resourced or 
tasked to do this work but an action for 
the AONB area can be added about 
increasing understanding of skills gaps, 
alongside the existing action to provide 
resources and support skills training – 
suggest “Identify skills and knowledge 
gaps in the land based sector of the 
area” as this would reflect the work of the 
AONB Partnership.   

 

28


	Agenda
	4 MINUTES
	7 Arnside & Silverdale and North Pennines Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty - Management Plans
	Appendix 1 and Appendix 2 summary of consultation responses


